IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 17-0202

JOSEPH WALSH,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Vs,

TERESA WAHLERT AND THE STATE OF IOWA,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE POLK COUNTY DISTRICT COURT

Hon. Michael D. Huppert

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

**MICHAEL J CARROLL-- AT0001311
MEGAN FLYNN --AT0010000
COPPOLA, McCONVILLE, COPPOLA,
CARROLL, HOCKENBERG & SCALISE,
P.C.
2100 Westown Parkway, Suite 210
West Des Moines, Iowa 50265
Phone: 515/453-1055: Fax: 515/453-1059
Emails: michael@csmclaw.com
megan@csmclaw.com**

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF FILING

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES
PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT WALSH, A MERIT SYSTEM EMPLOYEE, WAS REQUIRED TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES PRIOR TO FILING A WHISTLEBLOWER CLAIM PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE § 70A.28

CASES

Riley v. Boxa, 542 N.W.2d 519, 520 (Iowa 1996)

Charles Gabus Ford, Inc. v. Iowa State Highway Comm'n, 224 N.W.2d 639, 647(Iowa 1974)

Worthington v. Kenkel, 684 N.W.2d 228, 230 (Iowa 2004)

Hill v. Iowa Dep't of Employment Services, 442 N.W.2d 128, 131 (Iowa 1989)

STATUTES AND RULES

Iowa Code §8A.415(2)(b)

Iowa Code §70A.28

ADDITIONAL CITATIONS

89 Acts, ch 124, § 2

2003 Acts, ch 145, § 286

2006 Acts, ch 1153, § 14

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE CLAIM OF WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY IS NOT AVAILABLE TO MERIT SYSTEM EMPLOYEES

CASES

Smith, 991 P.2d at 1143

Midgett v. Sackett-Chicago, Inc., 105 Ill.2d 143, 473 N.E.2d 1280, 124 (1984)

Jasper v. Nizam, Inc., 764 N.W.2d 751, 769 (Iowa 2009)

Keveney v. Missouri Military Academy, 3041 S.W.3d 98 (Mo. 2010)

Smith v. Bates Technical College, 139 Wash.2d 793, 991 P.2d 1135, 1140 (2000)

Retherford v. AT&T Communications of Mt. States, Inc., 844 P.2d 949, 960 (Utah

1992)

Koehrer v. Superior Court, 181 Cal. App.3d 1155, 116, 226 Cal. Rptr. 820, 826
(1986)

Ewing v. Koppers Co., Inc., 312 Md. 45, 537 A.2d 1173, 1175 (1988)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an action at law, filed in Polk County, Iowa alleging that Defendants violated Iowa's state-employee whistleblower protection statute, Iowa Code Section 70A.28, and alleging that Defendants terminated Walsh in violation of the public policy of the State of Iowa.

Course of Proceedings

Plaintiff filed his Petition on April 3, 2014 alleging violation of Iowa Code § 70A.28.

On or about December 11, 2015, Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment and alternative motion to dismiss and strike in district court seeking dismissal of Walsh's claims against them. Walsh filed a resistance on January 11, 2016.

Walsh also filed, on January 8, 2016, a motion to amend his Petition to allege a count for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy.

On January 13, 2016, the case was stayed, pursuant to an order of the district court, based on the fact that a case was pending in the Iowa Supreme Court that was related to and could affect determination of Walsh's wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim.

On June 3, 2016, the parties filed a joint motion to lift the stay and set

deadlines.

On September 23, 2016, Defendants filed a supplemental motion for summary judgment and alternative motion to dismiss and strike.

On October 21, 2016, Walsh filed a supplemental resistance to the supplemental motion for summary judgment and alternative motion to dismiss and strike.

A hearing on the motion for summary judgment and alternative motion to dismiss and strike was held on November 18, 2016.

On January 11, 2017, the Court entered its ruling on the motion for summary judgment, ruling in favor of the defendants, and dismissing Walsh's claims.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on February 6, 2017.

Statement of Facts

Walsh became the Chief ALJ for IWD in January 2011 just before Defendant Wahlert became the Executive Director of the agency. (Walsh Dep. 20:3-20:22, APP. 230). Wahlert's position was political (she served at the pleasure of the Governor) while Walsh was a "merit system" employee. *See* Iowa Code Section 8A.411 *et seq.* (2017); *see also* Walsh Aff. ¶ 5, APP. 314.

Walsh understood his obligation to the agency and the Director was to protect Wahlert from interference while providing her with legitimate advice and information she needed to run the agency. Walsh advised Wahlert her role was to

propose legislation and engage in rulemaking, not to direct ALJ decision-making through policy. As Wahlert's efforts intensified, Walsh became a forceful buffer and stumbling block to her efforts to exert improper authority over the ALJs and the administrative judicial process.

The primary function of the Chief ALJ at the time Walsh held that position was to manage the Unemployment Insurance Appeals Bureau, which consists of approximately 12 administrative law judges and support staff as well as, perhaps most importantly, hearing and deciding important unemployment cases. (Walsh Dep. 22:24-23:24, APP. 231).

As a merit employee, unlike his job as Deputy Director, Walsh was protected by laws governing employee status and rights and therefore was not "at-will." In other words, Walsh could only lose his job pursuant to certain specific enumerated and codified criteria and could not be terminated for no reason as he could if he were a political appointee. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 8A.413(18) (2017).

The Chief ALJ has historically served as a buffer between the Director of IWD, a political appointee, and the administrative law judges (ALJs), all of whom are merit employees who have no political role and merely apply factual scenarios to the law.

On April 5, 2013, Jon Nelson, the Human Resources Manager at IWD, delivered a letter to Walsh announcing Wahlert's intent to change the Chief ALJ

position from merit to a political, non-merit (at-will) position. (April 5, 2013 Letter, APP. 215). During the same time frame, Wahlert issued similar letters to several other IWD employees whose positions were funded with federal U.S. Department of Labor (hereafter “DOL”) funds. (Walsh Dep. 49:16-50:17, APP. 238, Walsh Dep. 52:23-54:4, APP. 238-39). This was, according to Walsh’s understanding, part of a broader Branstad Administration effort to reclassify State employees from protected merit positions into political, at-will positions.

Walsh met with Nelson telling Nelson specifically that it was a violation of the Social Security Act and U.S. Department of Labor (U.S. DOL) guidance for a Chief ALJ to be classified as non-merit. Walsh provided documentation supporting that claim. Nelson reviewed information provided by Walsh and agreed there was a problem with the move to change his position from merit to at-will. (Walsh Dep. 51:11-52:5, APP. 238).

During the meeting Nelson promised to have the information reviewed by the Department of Administrative Services (hereafter “DAS”), the human resources arm of the state government, and, in the meantime, agreed to place the letter on “hold” while it was under review. The determination to make the position at-will was appealable but based upon Nelson’s assurance that the matter was under review and “on hold,” Walsh did not file an appeal of the decision. (Walsh Dep. 51:18-56:4, APP. 238-39). Nelson assured Walsh that his status would not

change without his knowledge. (Walsh Aff. ¶¶ 11-15, APP. 315). Walsh was on vacation and out of the office from April 9, 2013, until April 21, 2013, a day after the appeal deadline would have run had the matter not been placed on “hold.” (*Id.*)

On April 26, 2013, Walsh followed up with Nelson via email confirming the determination had been placed on hold. Nelson did not respond immediately.

Between April 26, 2013, and May 21, 2013, Nelson informed Walsh several times that DAS was still reviewing the matter. (Walsh Dep. 54:18-55:15, APP. 239).

On May 21, 2013, Nelson informed Walsh for the first time that Walsh was no longer a merit employee. (Walsh Dep. 55:18-56:4, APP. 239; Walsh Aff. ¶16, APP. 315). Nelson stated that the new status had become effective while Walsh was on vacation. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 16, APP. 315). Walsh had previously contacted DOL Regional Office in Chicago, specifically Elizabeth Schloesser (Schloesser), the DOL Liaison for Walsh. (Walsh Dep. 59:7-59:24, APP. 240; Walsh Dep. 63:6-64:16, APP. 241). Schloesser had informed Walsh that any administrative law judge, whether managerial or not, must be a merit employee. (Walsh Dep. 60:3-60:9, APP. 240).

Walsh informed Wahlert that he had contacted DOL and that she and DAS had made a serious legal error. (Walsh Aff. ¶¶ 19-20, APP. 316). Walsh then met with Wahlert explained the error in detail along with the potential federal DOL consequences. (Walsh Dep. 57:20-58:2, APP. 240).

Wahlert stated “I’m not a lawyer. I leave that up to the lawyers, and they said it was fine” and directed Walsh to contact Ryan Lamb, general counsel for DAS. (Walsh Dep. 57:20-58:7, APP. 240).

Walsh contacted Lamb and arranged to meet on May 31, 2013. On May 31, 2013, Lamb acknowledged he had no legal authority for his determination other than what Walsh had originally provided to Nelson. In that meeting, Lamb stated that he relied on the fact that Wahlert had informed Lamb that Walsh did not spend much time deciding cases and his position was “mostly managerial.” Walsh explained to Lamb that, in fact, he spent a significant amount of time deciding cases, a fact which Wahlert knew or should have known. Walsh further explained the legal authorities provided, as well as Schloesser’s explanation to Walsh on May 22, 2013. (Walsh Dep. 64:17-66:17, APP. 241-42). Walsh also explained the policy reasons why it would be a bad decision for the Chief ALJ to be political/non-merit. Lamb stated he agreed on the policy argument. (*Id.*; Walsh Aff. ¶ 25, APP. 316). He further stated it was not his legal decision; rather it was Wahlert’s policy decision. (Walsh Aff. ¶¶ 23-24, APP. 316). This directly contradicted what Wahlert had informed Walsh about how/why the reclassification decision had been made. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 20, APP. 316). Lamb agreed to contact DOL to get further information and reassess the legality of the decision. (Walsh Dep. 69:5-69:13, APP. 243).

Lamb spoke with Walsh by phone on or before June 11, 2013 during which Lamb acknowledged that it was not legal and/or allowable under federal DOL guidelines to make the Chief ALJ non-merit so long as the position heard cases. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 26, APP. 316; Walsh Dep. 69:21-70:3, APP. 243). On or about June 11, 2013, Wahlert called Walsh into her office, along with Nelson, and provided him with a new Position Description Questionnaire (PDQ), essentially a new job description. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 27, APP. 316; *Compare* old PDQ APP. 215-19, *with* new PDQ, APP. 220-25). The new PDQ assigned Walsh, as Chief ALJ to cease hearing cases. (New PDQ, APP. 220-25).

Wahlert asked Walsh to review the new PDQ, go home, think about it and get back to her with any input. (Walsh Dep. 72:9-72:20, APP. 243). Walsh agreed to review the PDQ and get back to her. (*Id.*). Walsh attempted to meet with Wahlert the following day but she was unavailable. (Walsh Dep. 74:16-75:5, APP. 244). Walsh emailed Wahlert on June 12, 2013 and expressed his continued discomfort with the proposed job duty change. (*Id.*)

Wahlert responded with an angry email directing Walsh to either sign the new PDQ or not but that it was now in effect. Walsh was in the middle of deciding and writing several cases at that time. Walsh emailed back that it was impossible for him to begin working under the new PDQ while in the midst of deciding multiple cases.

In a follow up email Wahlert backed down and acknowledged Walsh could complete the cases. (APP. 210-11). On June 13, 2013, Walsh emailed complaints directed to Office of Governor Terry Branstad, the DOL, and members of the IWD Board. (June 13, 2013 E-mail, DEF. APP. 19-20). In the email, Walsh exposed IWD's legal and ethical violations to the recipients. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 28; June 13, 2013 E-mail, APP. 85-86). Walsh followed up with a second e-mail, also exposing IWD's legal and ethical violations, that was addressed separately and only to the DOL. (June 17, 2013 E-mail to DOL, APP. 209). Walsh then followed up with Senator Dotzler and Representative Running-Marquardt regarding his complaints. (Walsh 83:11-83:21, APP. 246).

As Chief ALJ, Walsh was responsible for the Appeals Bureau's budget. In the most recent budget estimates prior to Walsh's separation, the Appeals Bureau was under budget for Fiscal Year 2013 (July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2013) and approximately \$250,000 under budget for Fiscal Year 2014. Neither Wahlert, nor any person in the Financial Management Bureau had ever informed Walsh of any budget issue because there was no budget issue in the Appeals Bureau. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 33, APP. 317).

On June 20, 2013, Wahlert provided Walsh with a letter rescinding her efforts to make his position political/non-merit. (June 20, 2013 Letter, APP. 87). On or about July 15, 2013, Walsh received a "layoff letter" and was walked out of

the IWD office accompanied by an escort. (July 15, 2013 “layoff letter,” APP. 091; Walsh Dep. 92:21-92:23, APP. 248). He was not allowed to clean out his office or say goodbye to staff.

The layoff plan sent to DAS characterized the layoff as a reduction in force due to budget shortfall. This was untrue as Walsh’s bureau was under budget. (Walsh Aff. ¶ 33, APP. 317).

In the wake of his termination Walsh attempted to mitigate his damages by becoming reemployed with the state. During that time Wahlert attempted to interfere with Walsh’s efforts to become employed at the Division of Workers’ Compensation urging the Workers’ Compensation Commissioner not to hire Walsh through outplacement because he had filed complaints against her with a State agency. (Walsh Aff. 37, APP. 318). Additionally, while Wahlert and the State have attempted to spin Walsh’s layoff being budget-related, rather than simply adhering to that simple narrative, in the wake of the filing of the Petition in this matter, Wahlert authorized an unprecedented attack on Walsh through the media. (APP. 198; 267-304).

ARGUMENT

Scope of Review.

Summary judgment is appropriate only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3).

An issue of fact is “genuine” when the evidence is sufficient for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Fees v. Mutual Fire and Automobile Insurance Co.*, 490 N.W.2d 55, 57 (Iowa 1992). An issue of fact is “material” when, considering the underlying law, its determination might affect the outcome of the lawsuit. *Id.*

On appeal, this Court reviews a district court's ruling on a motion to for summary judgment for correction of errors at law. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (2016); *see also Fennelly v. A-1 Mach. & Tool Co.*, 728 N.W.2d 181, 185 (Iowa 2007).

Analysis

I. **THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT WALSH, A MERIT SYSTEM EMPLOYEE, WAS REQUIRED TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES PRIOR TO FILING A WHISTLEBLOWER CLAIM PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE § 70A.28**

The district court held that Plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remedies with respect to his Iowa Code § 70A.28 whistleblower claim. That claim relied upon Iowa Code § 70A.28(2), which provides as follows:

A person shall not discharge an employee from or take or fail to take action regarding an employee's appointment or proposed appointment to, promotion or proposed promotion to, or any advantage in, a position in a state employment system administered by, or subject to approval of, a state agency as a reprisal for a failure by that employee to inform the person that the employee made a disclosure of information permitted by this section, or for a disclosure of information to the office of ombudsman, or a disclosure of information to any other public official or law enforcement agency if the employee reasonably believes the information evidences a violation of law or rule, mismanagement, a gross abuse of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. However, an employee may be required to inform the person that the employee made a disclosure of information permitted by this section if the employee represented that the disclosure was the official position of the employee's immediate supervisor or employer.

Iowa Code § 70A.28(2).

The language of the same whistleblower statute provides a private right of action for state employees, and enables them to bring a civil action. It also provides an administrative remedy for non-merit-system employees:

5. Subsection 2 *may be* enforced through a civil action.

a. A person who violates subsection 2 is liable to an aggrieved employee for affirmative relief including reinstatement, with or without back pay, or any other equitable relief the court deems appropriate, including attorney fees and costs.

b. When a person commits, is committing, or proposes to commit an act in violation of subsection 2, an injunction may be granted through an action in district court to prohibit the person from continuing such acts. The action for injunctive relief may be brought by an aggrieved employee or the attorney general.

6. Subsection 2 may also be enforced by an employee through an administrative action pursuant to the requirements of this subsection if the employee is not a merit system employee or an employee covered by a collective bargaining agreement . . .

Iowa Code 70A.28(5)-(6). Despite the clear language of the whistleblower statute providing a private right of action, the district court nevertheless found that exhaustion under another chapter of the Code—chapter 8A—was required:

This court finds Iowa Code chapter 8A provides an adequate administrative remedy for the claimed wrong. Iowa Code section 8A.417(4) expressly provides protection for merit system employees who engage in whistleblowing activities—the same activities identified in Iowa Code section 70A.28(2) that Plaintiff alleges resulted in his termination. Iowa Code section 8A.415 outlines the administrative process available to an aggrieved merit system employee. A merit system employee who is discharged may, following a grievance procedure, file an appeal with the PERB. Iowa Code § 8A.415(2)(a-b). If the board finds the action taken was for ‘political, religious, racial, national origin, sex, age, or other reasons not constituting just cause, the employee may be reinstated without loss of pay or benefits for the elapsed period, or the [PERB] may provide other appropriate remedies.’ Iowa Code § 8A.415(b). The grievance and appeal procedure outline [sic] in Iowa Code section

8A.415 provide an adequate remedy for Plaintiff to challenge his termination.

(See District Court Ruling, at 5). Walsh disagrees with this ruling and believes it has misinterpreted the intent of the legislature. The plain language of Iowa Code § 70A.28 makes the employee’s civil action and administrative remedy alternative and does not set forth any exhaustion requirement.

A. When Exhaustion Is Required

Plaintiff has located no Iowa case that addresses whether a § 70A.28 Plaintiff, and specifically one who is a “merit system” employee must exhaust any administrative remedies prior to filing a whistleblower claim under that statute. Further, no exhaustion requirement is manifest from the face of that statute alone. Therefore, Plaintiff relies on the general standards governing when such exhaustion requirements arise.

As set forth by this Court:

Two conditions must be met before we apply the doctrine: an adequate administrative remedy must exist for the claimed wrong, and the governing statutes must expressly or impliedly require the remedy to be exhausted before allowing judicial review . . . An exception to the doctrine ‘is applied when the administrative remedy is inadequate or its pursuit would be fruitless.’

Riley v. Boxa, 542 N.W.2d 519, 520 (Iowa 1996). Further, the Court recognized “We have stated that the exhaustion of administrative remedies doctrine does not apply if, by the terms and implications of the statutes authorizing an administrative

remedy, ‘such remedy is permissive only or not exclusive of the judicial remedy, warranting the conclusion that the legislature intended to permit resort to the courts even though the administrative remedy has not been exhausted.’ *Id.*, 542 N.W.2d at 522 (quoting *Charles Gabus Ford, Inc. v. Iowa State Highway Comm’n*, 224 N.W.2d 639, 647 (Iowa 1974)).

B. No Adequate Administrative Remedy Exists for the Claimed Wrong

First, it is important to consider the Iowa Code § 70A.28(6) makes clear that Walsh had no administrative remedy available for the claimed wrong under that code section, and in fact Defendants admit that Walsh was not permitted to maintain that claim before PERB. (Defendants’ Br., at 10) (“A merit-covered employee cannot go to PERB via Iowa Code § 70A.28(6).”). Therefore, if an administrative exhaustion requirement exists, it is not found within Iowa Code § 70A.28.

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