IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 17-0202

JOSEPH WALSH,

Plaintiff - Appellant,

vs.

**TERESA WAHLERT and
THE STATE OF IOWA,**

Defendants - Appellees.

**APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE MICHAEL D. HUPPERT, JUDGE**

**APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

**THOMAS J. MILLER
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA**

**JEFFREY C. PETERZALEK
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Justice
Administrative Law Division
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Ph: (515) 281-4213
Fax: (515) 281-4209
E-mail: Jeffrey.Peterzalek@iowa.gov**

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

ARGUMENT

I. IOWA CODE CHAPTER 8A PROVIDES PLAINTIFF’S EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, AND PLAINTIFF FAILED TO EXHAUST THAT REMEDY.

Standard of Review: The review of a district court decision granting summary judgment is for the correction of errors at law. *Suppliers, Inc. v. Hanson*, 876 N.W.2d 765, 772 (Iowa 2016).

Preservation of Error: The State does not assert Walsh failed to preserve error on his substantive appeal of the district court’s dismissal of his whistleblower claim for failure to exhaust administrative remedies.

Argument: The Iowa Administrative Procedure Act (IAPA) is established in Iowa Code chapter 17A. The IAPA provides the exclusive means to challenge agency action if “the action or inaction in question . . . bear[s] a discernable relationship to the statutory mandate of the agency as evidenced by express or implied statutory authorizations.” *Papadakis v. Iowa State University*, 574 N.W.2d 258, 260 (Iowa 1997) (Court held university employee employment dispute had to be resolved through administrative process and judicial review). Overall, if the action of the agency is “the very decision which the agency’s mandate directed it to make, “any challenged action must be brought under the IAPA. *Jew v. University of Iowa*, 398 N.W.2d 861, 865 (Iowa 1987); *Genetzky v. Iowa State University*, 480 N.W.2d 858, 861 (Iowa 1992).

Iowa Code section 8A.412 unequivocally states, “The merit system *shall* apply to *all positions* in state government now existing or hereafter established.” (emphasis added). Iowa Code chapter 8A also expressly requires a plan for resolving employee grievances and that chapter, and the

administrative rules implemented under that chapter, set forth a robust grievance process. *See* Iowa Code §§ 8A.413(19) and 8A.415. Well-established precedent required Walsh to challenge his separation from employment under the provisions of chapter 8A – which he did right up to the point he voluntarily abandoned that process.

Because Walsh abandoned his merit system grievance, he indisputably failed to exhaust that remedy. “The exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement is a rule of almost universal application. According to the rule, before a party can call upon the court to act, the party must have exhausted any remedy available before an administrative agency.” *Iowa Coal Mining Co. v. Monroe Cnty.*, 555 N.W.2d 418, 431 (Iowa 1996) (citations omitted). The governing statute need not explicitly require exhaustion as an implicit requirement is sufficient. *Riley v. Boxa*, 542 N.W.2d 519, 521-23 (Iowa 1996) (deciding that use of “may” still implicitly required exhaustion); *see also Travelers Indem. Co. v. D.J. Franzen, Inc.*, 792 N.W.2d 242, 248-49 (Iowa 2010) (looking to intent of legislature in determining whether exhaustion is required (citation omitted)); *Keokuk Cnty. v. H.B.*, 593 N.W.2d 118, 123 (Iowa 1999) (“When an administrative remedy has been established by statute, our courts are generally not immediately available to litigants to

grant relief.” (citation omitted)). “Two conditions must exist before the exhaustion requirement is imposed. First, an administrative remedy must exist for the claimed wrong. Second, a statute must expressly or implicitly require that remedy to be exhausted before resort to the courts.” *Keokuk Cnty.*, 593 N.W.2d at 123 (citation and internal citations omitted). When a party fails to exhaust required administrative remedies, the court lacks authority to hear the case, and if properly raised, the court must dismiss the case. *Ghost Player, L.L.C. v. State*, 860 N.W.2d 323, 326 (Iowa 2015) (citation omitted).

There can be no doubt that an administrative remedy exists for the wrong Walsh claims to have suffered. Not only is such a remedy expressly set forth in statute, Walsh actually initiated and pursued that process up to the point where he voluntarily withdrew from the process just before the statutorily provided hearing before PERB. As of the date of his layoff it is undisputed Walsh was a merit-covered employee. In fact, Walsh does a fine job of succinctly summarizing his merit status in his opening brief by stating,

As a merit employee, unlike his job as Deputy Director, Walsh was protected by laws governing employee status and rights and therefore was not “at-will.” In other words, Walsh could only lose his job pursuant to certain specific enumerated and codified criteria and could not be terminated for no reason

as he could if he were a political appointee. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 8A.413(18) (2017).

That exhaustion of the process provided for in chapter 8A is required is beyond any serious debate. The State merit system is established in Iowa Code chapter 8A. Iowa Code section 8A.411 states:

1. The general purpose of this subchapter is to establish for the state of Iowa a system of human resource administration based on merit principles and scientific methods to govern the appointment, compensation, promotion, welfare, development, transfer, layoff, removal, and discipline of its civil employees, and other incidents of state employment.

2. It is also the purpose of this subchapter to promote the coordination of personnel rules and policies with collective bargaining agreements negotiated under chapter 20.

3. All appointments and promotions to positions covered by the state merit system shall be made solely on the basis of merit and fitness, to be ascertained by examinations or other appropriate screening methods, except as otherwise specified in this subchapter.

4. Provisions of this subchapter pertaining to qualifications, examination, certification, probation, and just cause apply only to employees covered by the merit system.

(emphasis added). Iowa Code section 8A.413 further requires the Department of Administrative Services to, “adopt rules for the administration of this subchapter pursuant to *Chapter 17A*.” (emphasis added). In addition,

Iowa Code section 8A.413(15) requires that a rule be implemented specifically

For establishing in cooperation with the appointing authorities a performance management system for all employees in the executive branch, excluding employees of the state board of regents, which shall be considered in determining salary increases; as a factor in promotions; as a factor in determining the order of layoffs and in reinstatement; as a factor in demotions, discharges, and transfers; and for the regular evaluation, at least annually, of the qualifications and performance of those employees.

(emphasis added). Further yet, Iowa Code section 8A.413(19) expressly mandates the “establishment of a uniform plan for resolving employee grievances and complaints.” Finally, Iowa Code section 8A.415 establishes a robust process for resolving employee grievances. This process allows an employee to appeal agency personnel decisions to the public employment relations board (PERB). Iowa Code section 8A.415(2)(b) expressly states, “decisions by the public employment relations board constitute final agency action.”

Beyond the statutory mandates noted above, even more directly on point and dispositive of the exclusivity / exhaustion issue raised in this case is section 8A.417(4), which expressly provides protection for employees who engage in “whistleblowing” activities.

A person shall not discharge an employee from or take or fail to take action regarding an employee's appointment or proposed appointment to, promotion or proposed promotion to, or any advantage in, a position in a merit system administered by, or subject to approval of, the director as a reprisal for a failure by that employee to inform the person that the employee made a disclosure of information permitted by this section, or for a disclosure of any information by that employee to a member or employee of the general assembly, or for a disclosure of information to any other public official or law enforcement agency if the employee reasonably believes the information evidences a violation of law or rule, mismanagement, a gross abuse of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. However, an employee may be required to inform the person that the employee made a disclosure of information permitted by this section if the employee represented that the disclosure was the official position of the employee's immediate supervisor or employer. This subsection does not apply if the disclosure of the information is prohibited by statute.

Even a cursory review of section 8A.417(4) demonstrates it is virtually identical to Iowa Code section 70A.28(2), (3).

Here, Plaintiff had a comprehensive administrative remedy to challenge his layoff (and the other alleged retaliatory actions) by filing a grievance followed by an appeal with PERB. *See* Iowa Code § 8A.415; Iowa Admin. Code r. 11-61.1, 61.2. Plaintiff actually filed a non-contract grievance under section 8A.415(2) and then an appeal to PERB regarding his layoff, all in accordance with chapter 8A. He then voluntarily

withdrew/dismissed the appeal just prior to the PERB hearing. (App. 77, 97-105; Def SJ App. 11, 31-39; Walsh Depo. at 101:15 – 102:21). In dismissing his pending action before PERB, Walsh stated that he “would prefer to have the issues heard in the courts instead of the Public Employment Relations Board.” (App. 104; Def SJ App. 38). Because Plaintiff failed to exhaust his available administrative remedies, in fact voluntarily and expressly failing to do so, the Court lacks authority to hear the case. *See Sioux City Police Officers’ Ass’n v. City of Sioux City*, 495 N.W.2d 687, 692 (1993) (“When resolution of a controversy has been delegated to PERB, the district court has no original authority to declare the rights of parties or the applicability of any statute or rule.”); *Ghost Player*, 860 N.W.2d at 330-31 (district court without authority to hear case where administrative remedies not exhausted); Iowa Code § 8A.415; Iowa Admin. Code r. 11–61.2(8) (“All remedies provided in rule 11–61.2(8A) must be exhausted pursuant to Iowa Code section 17A.19, subsection 1, prior to petition for judicial review.”); *see also Allen v. S.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm’n*, 467 S.E.2d 450, 451, 453 (S.C. Ct. App. 1996) (per curiam) (affirming grant of summary judgment because plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remedies prior to bringing cause

of action under South Carolina's Whistleblower Act, where plaintiff voluntarily withdrew his grievance).

The District Court's determination that Walsh must exhaust his remedies under chapter 8A is also completely consistent with established principals as determined by Iowa courts. For instance, the Iowa Supreme Court has determined that employees covered by the State's civil service statutes must use those remedies exclusively and cannot pursue other types of claims for an alleged wrongful discharge. *Van Baale v. City of Des Moines*, 550 N.W.2d 153, 156 (Iowa 1996) ("Where the legislature has provided a comprehensive scheme for dealing with a specific kind of dispute, the statutory remedy is generally exclusive").

In his brief Walsh makes, contrary to the express language of chapter 8A, the claim that "no adequate remedy exists for the claimed wrong." (Appellant's Brief at p. 16). In fact, other than perhaps payment of attorney fees, the remedies under the merit system are even broader than those contained in Iowa Code section 70A.28. Iowa Code section 8A.415(2)(b) provides not only for reinstatement, back pay and benefits like section 70A.28, but also allows PERB to award "other appropriate remedies." It is well established that "an administrative remedy is not inadequate so as to

authorize judicial intervention before exhaustion of the remedy simply because it may create some hardship or does not give one everything he or she wants.” *Riley v. Boxa*, 542 N.W.2d 519, 521 (Iowa 1996). The administrative remedy provided under chapter 8A is clearly adequate under the law.

Walsh also claims that there is no language requiring exhaustion in section 70A.28. While this may be true, that fact does nothing to excuse his failure to exhaust administrative remedies. Iowa Code section 17A.19 states, “[e]xcept as expressly provided otherwise by another statute referring to this chapter by name, the judicial review provisions of this chapter shall be the exclusive means by which a person or party . . . may seek judicial review of such agency action.” There is no language in section 70A.28 that would remove that code section from the provisions of 17A and, to the contrary, chapter 8A is clear that the provisions of the IAPA apply to this employment dispute and, it bears noting again, the very process Walsh himself initiated and pursued until voluntarily withdrawing from that administrative process. *See Polk Cnty. v. Iowa State Appeal Bd.*, 330 N.W.2d 267 (Iowa 1983) (in absence of language expressly exempting Board decision from chapter 17A, decisions of board subject to judicial review); *Salsbury Labs v. Iowa Dep’t of*

Envtl. Quality, 276 N.W.2d 830 (Iowa 1979) (“exclusive means of review” language of section 17A.19 preempts challenge to agency action through common law writs of certiorari, declaratory judgment or injunction).

Further, Walsh’s arguments that there is no exhaustion requirement in section 70A.28 completely ignores the fact that language virtually identical to that contained in section 70A.28 is set forth in section 8A.417, and without doubt chapter 8A applies to this employment dispute and requires exhaustion. It is especially significant that section 70A.28 even cross references section 8A.417. Clearly the legislature was well aware of what it was doing with respect to both statutes, and certainly the legislature did not intend for section 70A.28 to supersede chapter 8A or make section 8A.417 superfluous.

Finally, Walsh argues that the use of the word “may” in section 8A.415(2)(a)-(b) allowing that an aggrieved employee “may” file an appeal of their adverse employment action makes exhaustion of that remedy permissive. That is incorrect. Even a case Plaintiff relies upon establishes the fallacy of this proposition. *See Riley v. Boxa*, 542 N.W.2d 519, 522 (Iowa 1996). In *Riley* the Supreme Court stated, “[t]he use of the word ‘may’ does not warrant a conclusion that the legislature intended to allow judicial relief before the exhaustion of the administrative remedy. We have held that other

statutes which also use the term ‘may’ have nevertheless required the administrative remedy be exhausted before resort to the courts.” *Id.* (*other citations omitted*). In fact, in a case similar factually and legally to the present case the Iowa Court of Appeals upheld a motion for summary judgment dismissing an employee’s claims who had failed to exhaust the statutory remedies provided in Iowa Code section 80.15. *Wright v. State*, 885 N.W.2d 220 (Table) (Iowa Ct. App. June, 15, 2016) (Department of Public Safety Employee covered under Iowa Code section 80.15 must pursue and exhaust those remedies).

The district court was correct in dismissing Walsh’s case due to Walsh’s voluntary decision to abandon the requisite administrative process, thereby failing to exhaust those required administrative remedies.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED COUNT VIII (WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY) OF PLAINTIFF’S THIRD AMENDED PETITION.

Standard of Review: The review of a district court decision granting summary judgment is for the correction of errors at law. *Suppliers, Inc. v. Hanson*, 876 N.W.2d 765, 772 (Iowa 2016).

Preservation of Error: The State does not assert Walsh failed to preserve error on his substantive appeal of the district court’s dismissal of his wrongful termination in violation of public policy claim.

Argument: “Iowa follows the majority of states by carving out a public-policy exception to the general rule of at-will employment for wrongful-discharge claims.” *Dorshkind v. Oak Park Place of Dubuque II, L.L.C.*, 835 N.W.2d 293, 300 (Iowa 2013). The wrongful discharge cause of action was created as “the public-policy exception to the employment-at-will doctrine.” *Jasper v. Nizam, Inc.*, 764 N.W.2d 751, 761 (Iowa 2009) (citations omitted).

In *Fitzgerald v. Salsbury Chemical, Inc.*, 613 N.W.2d 275, 280-81 (Iowa 2000), the Court traced the history of the at-will employment doctrine and the exceptions thereto. The Court noted the roots of at-will employment were more than a century old, perhaps originating in an 1877 treatise, and in direct contradiction to the traditional English rule, which presumed employment was for a one-year term. *Id.* at 280 & 280 n.1 (citations omitted). According to the Court, through the passage of time, the doctrine began to weaken and in recent years, “three exceptions to the at-will employment doctrine have surfaced to add employee protections to the

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